FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/2/2021 4:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/5/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99623-7 Court of Appeals No. 53224-7-II

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

In re Marriage of

Rachell Daniels (n/k/a Rachell Bonds),

Petitioner,

v.

Nathaniel Daniels,

Respondent.

Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter, WSBA # 43124 Attorney for Petitioner

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

1. Identity of Petitioner

Rachell Bonds (f/k/a Rachell Daniels), Appellant, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

2. Court of Appeals Decision

In re Marriage of Daniels, No. 53224-7-II (Dec. 15, 2020) (unpublished). Bonds filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by Order dated March 4, 2021. Copies of the Opinion and the Order are included in the appendix.

3. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. In 2013, Daniels asked the trial court to divide Bonds' military retirement. The court granted the motion and ordered the parties to return with formal orders dividing the military retirement, which the parties did. Did the 2019 trial court err in interpreting the 2013-14 orders as imposing a lump sum debt rather than as dividing Bonds' military retirement?
- 2. Subsequent to the 2013-14 orders, Bonds was retired for disability. Under the USFSPA, Daniels could no longer receive any portion of Bonds' retirement. Under *Howell v. Howell*, __ U.S. __, 137 S.Ct. 1400, 197 L.Ed.2d 781 (2017), the trial court could not compensate Daniels for that loss. Did the 2019 trial court err in ordering Bonds to compensate Daniels for the lost retirement pay?

4. Introduction

The Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act (USFSPA), 10 U.S.C. § 1408, permits state courts in dissolution cases to divide, as community property, the future interest in the servicemember's expected "disposable retired pay." The Act does not allow state courts to divide military disability pay. When "disposable retired pay" is divided in a decree, but the veteran subsequently receives disability pay instead, the former spouse receives nothing. Under *Howell v. Howell*, __ U.S. __, 137 S.Ct. 1400, 197 L.Ed.2d 781 (2017), state courts are prohibited from compensating the former spouse for this loss.

By way of agreed orders entered in 2013-14, Bonds' "disposable retired pay" was divided as community property and \$146,191.30 of that future interest assigned to Daniels in order to equalize the parties' retirement assets. Bonds was placed on disability retirement by the Army in 2018. When Daniels complained that he was not receiving any payments, the trial court entered judgment against Bonds in 2019 to ensure that Daniels would be compensated. The trial court's 2019 order is prohibited under *Howell*.

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court conflicts with *Howell, In re Marriage of Thompson*, 97 Wn. App. 873, 988 P.2d 499 (1999), and In re Marriage of Weiser, 14 Wn. App. 2d 884, 475 P.3d 237 (2020). This case presents an issue of

substantial public interest. This Court should accept review, reverse the trial court, and vacate the judgment.

5. Statement of the Case

5.1 In their original divorce decree, the parties agreed to divide the community property portions of their retirement assets 50/50 once the values of their respective pensions were calculated.

Rachell Bonds and Nathaniel Daniels were married in January 1994 and separated in June 2006. CP 2. Their marriage was dissolved by a Decree dated July 18, 2008. CP 8. Bonds was a Captain in the U.S. Army, with 18 years of service and in good health. CP 121. Her expectation at the time was that she would retire sometime after achieving 20 years of service and thereafter receive "disposable retired pay." CP 121. Daniels was a federal government employee and would be entitled to a federal pension when he retired. CP 19, 28.

The parties worked out a settlement, which became part of the Decree. See CP 121. They agreed to divide equally the total values of the marital portions of their retirement accounts. CP 10, 11, 122. At the time, the parties did not know the values of their respective pensions. See CP 121-22. The agreed decree provided, "The present value of all six retirement accounts shall be totaled and divided such that the end result is each party receives one-half of the present value of the marital portion." CP

10, 11. The original goal was that "neither the husbands nor the wife's military retirement accounts shall be divided." CP 10, 11.

5.2 After the amounts were calculated, the parties realized that the only way to achieve the 50/50 division would be to divide Bonds' military retirement.

In August 2012, Daniels asked the court to get involved to carry out the 50/50 split. CP 16-19. According to Daniels' calculations, his retirement assets were valued at \$87,265.51 and Bonds' at \$379,648.10. CP 19. Achieving the 50/50 split would have required a transfer of retirement assets from Bonds to Daniels of \$146,191.30. CP 19. Such a sizeable transfer could only be accomplished by dividing the community property portion of Bonds' military retirement. CP 19. Daniels asserted, "The only way for me to get the funds owed to me by [Bonds] is for the court to divide her military retirement... Therefore I have prepared and submitted with this motion my proposed order dividing [Bonds]'s military retirement." CP 19.

Bonds agreed that the only way to accomplish the 50/50 division intended in the decree was to divide her military retirement. See CP 30. She proposed some ways this could be accomplished in compliance with the Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act (USFSPA), 10 U.S.C. § 1408. CP 30-33, 39-40. Her stated preference was to divide the "disposable retired pay" such that Daniels would receive \$593.22

per month until the \$146,191.30 total had been paid. CP 31. She anticipated these payments would begin in 2020, when she expected to retire. CP 31.

5.3 The trial court divided Bonds' "disposable retired pay," from which Daniels was to receive a total of \$146,191.30, paid out in monthly payments after Bonds retired.

The trial court entered an order in January 2013 granting in part Daniels' motion for an order dividing Bonds' military retirement. CP 47-49. The court fixed the amount (\$146,191.30) needed to accomplish the division ordered in the decree and specified that it would be accomplished by dividing Bonds' military retirement. CP 48. The court ordered the parties to return promptly, "to enter [an] order dividing [Bonds]'s military retirement." CP 48-49.

In January 2014, on joint motion of the parties, the trial court entered an "Order for Addendum to Decree of Dissolution," which required Bonds to pay Daniels \$146,191.30 from her military retirement at \$593.22 per month, CP 55, and a "Military Retired Pay Division Order," which "assign[ed] to [Daniels] a portion of" Bonds' "disposable retired pay," CP 223. The Military Retired Pay Division Order stated,

The Court assigns an interest in the Member's [Bonds] disposable military retired pay to the Former Spouse [Daniels]. The Former Spouse is entitled to a direct payment in the amount specified

below from the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS), and which will be paid from the Member's disposable retired pay, under provisions of the Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act ("USFSPA"), 10 U.S.C. Section 1408, as that statute provides at the time of entry of this Order or hereafter may be amended.

Effective upon the retirement of the Member as part of the division of the couple's Community Property, the Member shall pay the Former Spouse, Nathanial Daniels, a portion of her disposable military retired pay in the amount of \$593.22 per month, of the Member's disposable military retired pay...

CP 224. The order later repeats, "Upon Petitioner's retirement, as division of Community Property, Petitioner shall pay Respondent \$593.22 per month." CP 224-25.

5.4 Bonds was subsequently placed on disability retirement by the Army, and payments to Daniels terminated.

After 27 years of military service and multiple deployments, Bonds had suffered injuries that were affecting her performance. CP 118-19, 119-20. The Army placed her on Temporary Disability Retirement Leave on October 1, 2016, and started paying her disposable retired pay. CP 119, 127. Pursuant to the Military Retired Pay Division Order, DFAS started paying Daniels his \$593.22 per month out of Bonds' disposable retired pay. See CP 119.

On January 11, 2018, the Army determined that Bonds was 70 percent disabled and medically unfit for duty. CP 118-19. The Army discharged her and placed her on Permanent Disability Retirement. CP 118-19, 127. Instead of receiving "disposable retired pay," Bonds started receiving "military disability pay," which is not divisible as community property. CP 119. DFAS terminated its payments to Daniels. CP 97, 119, 127.

5.5 Daniels sought to enforce payment of the \$146,191.30.

Daniels returned to the trial court and moved, in the alternative, for contempt or to enforce, clarify, or vacate the decree. CP 62. Daniels acknowledged that *Howell* prohibited the trial court from compensating him for the loss of "disposable retired pay." CP 65-66. He argued that if *Howell* applied—that is, if Bonds was receiving disability pay instead of "disposable retired pay"—that the trial court should vacate the decree and determine a new, equitable division of property. CP 66.

Bonds argued that she should be relieved from paying the \$146,191.30 division ordered in 2013-14 because it was based on the ultimately mistaken premise that her retirement would be "disposable retired pay," when in fact it turned out to be disability pay—an asset the court does not have power to divide. CP 137. Daniels agreed that the court did not have authority to divide Bonds' disability pay. CP 170, 172. Instead he argued, for

the first time, that the \$146,191.30 ordered in 2014 was "an equalization payment," not a division of assets. CP 170, 173-74. Bonds countered that in view of the parties' assets at the time of the original decree, the only way to equalize the retirement assets was to divide her military retirement. CP 191; RP 5-6. "Therefore, in a very real sense, [Bonds'] military pension was divided." CP 191.

5.6 The trial court entered judgment in favor of Daniels, reasoning that the 2013-14 orders were for a lump sum, not a division of Bonds' retirement.

The trial court entered a judgment in favor of Daniels for \$127,193.86, its calculation of the amount still owed. CP 209-11; RP 35. The trial court reasoned that it was a debt for a fixed amount that Bonds should have already paid. RP 32. The trial court viewed the 2013-14 orders as only designating a vehicle for the payment, not dividing the military retirement. RP 4, 32, 35-36. The trial court ordered Bonds to continue making monthly payments of \$593.22 until the judgment is paid in full. CP 211.

Bonds appealed this 2019 trial court decision, arguing that the trial court erroneously misinterpreted the 2013-14 orders; that those orders, when interpreted correctly, divided her "disposable retired pay" as community property; and that after she was retired for disability, Daniels was entitled to nothing, and the trial court erred in entering judgment for a lump sum.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in an unpublished decision. Rather than reviewing the trial court's 2019 interpretation of the 2013-14 orders as Bonds requested, the Court of Appeals held that res judicata barred Bonds from arguing that the 2019 trial court's interpretation was wrong. Slip op. at 10-12. The court declined to address the major issue raised in Bonds' appellate briefs. Slip op. at 16 n.7.

6. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals or if the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

6.1 The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with multiple published decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

By applying a res judicata bar to Bonds' appeal without first analyzing the correct interpretation of the 2013-14 orders, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *In re Marriage of Thompson*, 97 Wn. App. 873, 988 P.2d 499 (1999), and *In re Marriage of Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 884, 475 P.3d 237 (2020).

The Court of Appeals decision claims to rely on *Weiser* for its application of res judicata, but the court misinterpreted and misapplied *Weiser*'s true holding. In *Weiser*, the parties had

entered an agreed final decree that not only divided the husband's military "disposable retired pay" but also included provisions to maintain a consistent stream of income to the wife in case the husband subsequently converted some or all of his retirement to disability pay. Weiser, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 889, 912. After the husband became partially disabled and reduced his payments to the wife, the wife sought to enforce the decree. Id. at 889-90. The husband argued that the decree was improper under Howell, but he did not move under CR 60 to modify or vacate the decree. Id. at 890-91. The trial court enforced the decree, requiring the husband to continue to make payments, "because the 'clear and unambiguous language' of the Agreement demonstrated that 'the parties intended for [the wife] to receive the amounts indicated." Id. at 891.

The husband's argument on appeal included two parts: First, he argued that the original decree was erroneous and void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and therefore could not be enforced. *Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 902, 904. The *Weiser* court held, under principles of res judicata, that the husband could not challenge the validity of the original decree. *Id.* at 911. The court held, "Under the doctrine of res judicata, Andrew could not request that the trial court [reopen or modify] the property settlement agreement in the absence of a CR 60 motion, and he filed no such motion." *Id.* (citing *Thompson*, 97 Wn. App. at 878

("A trial court does not have the authority to modify even its own decree in the absence of conditions justifying the reopening of the judgment.")).

Second, the husband in *Weiser* argued that in the enforcement order, the superior court misinterpreted the decree. *Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 912. The appellate court reviewed the trial court's interpretation and affirmed the enforcement order because the interpretation that the trial court enforced was consistent with the plain language of the decree. *Id.*

In summary, the *Weiser* court applied res judicata only to the husband's argument that the original decree was invalid, not to his argument that the enforcing court misinterpreted the decree. The *Weiser* court addressed the misinterpretation argument without any res judicata bar.

Unlike the husband's appeal in *Weiser*, Bonds' appeal here **did not** challenge the validity of the underlying decree or the 2013-14 orders. Bonds' appeal **only** challenged the 2019 trial court's misinterpretation of the 2013-14 orders. Yet here, in conflict with *Weiser*, the Court of Appeals applied res judicata to bar Bonds' argument that the enforcing court in 2019 misinterpreted the controlling 2013-14 orders. Slip op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with *Thompson*, 97 Wn. App. 873. In *Thompson*, the trial court had entered a final decree of dissolution. *Id.* at 875. The parties

disagreed about the meaning of certain terms of the property distribution. *Id.* The parties brought cross-motions to enforce the decree. *Id.* The ex-wife appealed from the trial court's order enforcing the decree in the ex-husband's favor. *Id.*

The *Thompson* court noted that the ex-wife was not challenging the decree itself; rather, "The issue she presents involves only the interpretation of the terms of the decree." *Thompson*, 97 Wn. App. at 877. The appellate court noted that on an enforcement motion, a trial court could interpret, clarify, and enforce the meaning of the decree, so long as it did not modify the original intent of the decree. *Id.* at 878. "If a decree is ambiguous, the reviewing court seeks to ascertain the intention of the court that entered it by using the general rules of construction applicable to statutes and contracts." *Id.* at 877 (citations omitted). The court held that the trial court had misinterpreted the decree, and reversed the trial court's enforcement order. *Id.* at 880.

In summary, under *Thompson*, like *Weiser*, res judicata is not a bar to an appeal of a trial court's misinterpretation of an earlier decree. The first step in such an appeal is to review the trial court's interpretation of the earlier decree. If the interpretation is correct, it stands, and the earlier decree is res judicata. If the interpretation is incorrect, it must be reversed and a correct interpretation of the decree adopted. Yet, in

conflict with *Thompson*, the Court of Appeals decision here barred Bonds' appeal under res judicata without ever analyzing the proper interpretation of the 2013-14 orders.

Bonds explained on appeal that both the language of the 2013-14 orders and the context in which they were entered show that the original intent of the 2013-14 orders was not to create a lump sum debt—rather, the 2013-14 orders intended nothing more or less than to divide Bonds' "disposable retired pay" as part of the division of community property, granting Daniels a future interest in that expected stream of retirement income. Br. of App. 14-20; Reply Br. of App. 6-9.

The result of the 2013-14 orders was that Daniels obtained a future interest in a portion of the "disposable retired pay" that Bonds expected to receive upon retirement. The U.S. Supreme Court explained that such an interest is contingent, subject to later reduction in value should the servicemember start to receive disability pay instead. *Howell*, 137 S.Ct. at 1405. This is because only "disposable retired pay" can be divided in the divorce; disability pay cannot. *Id.* at 1405-06.

Thus, as long as Bonds remained healthy, Daniels would have been entitled to receive his share of the "disposable retired pay" as it would have been paid out after Bonds' retirement. But when Bonds was retired for total disability, Bonds no longer had any "disposable retired pay," and the value of the interest that

Daniels had received through the 2013-14 orders fell to zero. His interest was only to receive a portion of "disposable retired pay." Because there was no longer any "disposable retired pay," Daniels was no longer entitled to receive anything under the 2013-14 orders. The *Howell* court "recognize[d] the hardship" that this would work on former spouses in Daniels' position, yet nevertheless held that it was the correct result under the law. *Howell*, 137 S.Ct. at 1406.

The present case is, in every material way, the same as *Howell*. In *Howell*, the parties' final decree awarded the wife 50 percent of the husband's military retirement. *Howell*, 137 S.Ct. at 1404. The Court held that this could only mean 50 percent of "disposable retired pay," because that is the only portion the state court has authority to divide. *Id.* at 1405. The husband was subsequently partially disabled and waived a portion of his disposable retired pay, reducing the amount payable to the wife. *Id.* at 1404. The wife sought to enforce the original amount, and the Arizona court ordered the husband to indemnify the wife for the difference. *Id.* The U.S. Supreme Court reversed, holding that the state court was barred from circumventing federal law (the USFSPA) by ordering reimbursement or indemnification. *Id.* at 1405-06.

Like the decree in *Howell*, the 2013-14 orders here divided Bonds' "disposable retired pay." But that award was

necessarily contingent on whether Bonds would actually receive any "disposable retired pay." *See Howell*, 137 S.Ct. at 1405-06. When Bonds' disability retirement eliminated all of her disposable military retired pay, Daniels was no longer legally entitled to receive anything under the 2013-14 orders. *See Id.*

The trial court's 2019 order, which improperly recharacterized the 2013-14 orders as an "equalization payment" as justification for requiring Bonds to compensate Daniels for the loss of "disposable retired pay" is no different from the order that the Court reversed in *Howell*. No matter what the trial court called its 2019 order, the effect of it was to order reimbursement for the lost "disposable retired pay," which the Court held state courts cannot do:

The difference is semantic and nothing more. The principal reason the state courts have given for ordering reimbursement or indemnification is that they wish to restore the amount previously awarded as community property, *i.e.*, to restore that portion of retirement pay lost due to the postdivorce waiver. And we note that here, the amount of indemnification mirrors the waived retirement pay, dollar for dollar. Regardless of their form, such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress. All such orders are thus pre-empted.

Howell, 137 S.Ct. at 1406. The trial court's 2019 order was improper under *Howell* and should have been reversed by the Court of Appeals.

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