FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/3/2021 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

# No. 99623-7

# Court of Appeals No. 53224-7-II

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RACHELL LYNETTE DANIELS, PETITIONER

v.

NATHANIEL DANIELS, RESPONDENT

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICE OF SOPHIA M. PALMER, P.L.L.C.

By SOPHIA M. PALMER Attorney at Law WSBA No. 37799

615 Commerce ST, Ste 101 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 777-4165

#

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

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with neither <a href="Thompson">Thompson</a> nor <a href="Weiser">Weiser</a>, nor any other authority, making further review unwarranted.

Rachell's contention that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with multiple published decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals is wrong both as a matter of law and fact.

In In re Marriage of Weiser, 14 Wn.App.2d 884, 475 P.3d 237

(2020), the nonmilitary spouse was awarded a share of her former husband's military retirement pursuant to the parties' agreement. Id. at 889. The husband subsequently waived his military retirement in favor of military disability retirement. Id. at 889-90. Division Two rejected the husband's assertion that the trial court erred by enforcing the final, unappealed dissolution decree and ordered him to compensate his wife for her share of the waived military retirement. Id. at 890-91. There, the court held that res judicata protected the finality of the unappealed prior order even where the trial court's enforcement of that order resulted in a property division that contradicted federal and state law because errors of law do not "automatically open [the trial court's] judgments to collateral attack." Id. at 905-06.

Here, Rachell argues that because the <u>Weiser</u> court addressed the husband's argument that the trial court misinterpreted the underlying orders, Division Two erred when it declined to do so in this case, instead finding it barred by res judicata. This argument is wholly without merit and unsupported by the law.

Rachell appealed the trial court's interpretation of the 2019 orders, arguing that the 2019 interpretation violated <u>Howell<sup>1</sup></u> by improperly

9

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Howell v. Howell, 581 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 137 S.Ct. 1400, (2017)

indemnifying Nathaniel from the reduction in military retirement payments. However, Rachell's argument that 2019 orders violated Howell, is predicated on collaterally attacking the 2013-2014 orders that she agreed to. Those final, unappealed, agreed orders required Rachell to pay Nathaniel the agreed upon amount, even if her disposable military retired pay was subsequently reduced. Because this was an agreement of the parties, and not a trial court order, there is no violation of Howell.

Division Two addressed Rachell's interpretation argument by properly applying res judicata to Rachell's improper attempt to collaterally attack the 2013-14 final, agreed, unappealed orders. Rachell's argument is the very argument rejected in Weiser by applying res judicata. Thus, there is no conflict between the Opinion and the opinion in Weiser.

Marriage of Thompson, 97 Wn.App 873, 988 P.2d 499 (1999), arguing that Thompson stands for the proposition that res judicata is not a bar to an appeal of a trial court's interpretation of an earlier order or decree. Rachell is correct that res judicata is not a bar to an appeal of a trial court's interpretation of an appeal of a trial court's interpretation of an earlier order or decree. However, Thompson does not discuss or even address the applicability of res judicata at all or stand for the proposition for which Rachell cites it for. Further, the Opinion does not rely on res judicata as a basis to reject Rachell's appeal of the trial

court's *interpretation* of the 2013-14 orders. Her argument was rejected because she asked the Court of Appeals to find that the 2013-14 orders violated <u>Howell</u>, an argument clearly barred by res judicata. Thus there is no conflict between the Opinion and the opinion in <u>Weiser</u>.

B. The trial court did not order indemnification in violation of <u>Howell</u>.

In In re Marriage of Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 588–89, 109 S.Ct. 2023, 104 L.Ed.2d 675 (1989), the Supreme Court held that "disposable military retirement pay" is subject to division in a dissolution, but the language of the Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act<sup>2</sup> (USFSPA) specifically defines "disposable" to exclude military retirement pay waived in order to receive veterans' disability payments. Under the USFSPA and Mansell, military retirement benefits are considered community property subject to distribution in a marital dissolution in Washington; military disability benefits are not subject to distribution. See also In re Marriage of Jennings, 138 Wn.2d 612, 629, 980 P.2d 1248 (1999).

In <u>In re Marriage of Kraft</u>, 119 Wn.2d 438, 447-48, 832 P.2d 871 (1992), our Supreme Court reconciled federal preemption when it comes to disability benefits with RCW 26.09.080, which requires the court to dispose of the parties' property in a "just and equitable" manner:

[W]hen making property distributions or

11

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 10 U.S.C. § 1408 (2017), et. seq.

awarding spousal support in a dissolution proceeding, the court may regard military disability retirement pay as future income to the retiree spouse and, so regarded, consider it as an economic circumstance of the parties. ... The court may not, however, divide or distribute the military disability retirement pay as an asset. It is improper under Mansell for the trial court to reduce military disability pay to present value where the purpose of ascertaining present value is to serve as a basis to award the nonretiree spouse a proportionately greater share of the community property as a direct offset of assets.

# Id. at 447-48. And the court reiterated later in its opinion:

The trial court in a marriage dissolution action may consider military disability retirement pay as a source of income in awarding spousal or child support, or generally as an economic circumstance of the parties justifying a disproportionate award of community property to the nonretiree spouse. The trial court may not, however, divide and distribute the disability pay or value it and offset other property against that value. In the present case, the trial court reduced the military disability pay to present value and then offset assets against it by awarding to Mrs. Kraft a proportionately larger share of the community property. This is not a permissible way of considering military disability retirement pay under the Mansell holding.

Id. at 451.

The Court in In re the Marriage of Perkins, 107 Wn. App 313, 315

26 P2d 989 (2001), recognized a long line of federal precedent set forth in Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. 572, 99 S.Ct. 802, 59 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979), McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S.Ct. 2728, 69 L.Ed.2d 589 (1981), the Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act (USFSPA), and Mansell v. Mansell that held a state court is precluded from dividing a veteran's disability pension, preempting the second of the state-law propositions set forth above. Id. at 321.

However, consistent with the subsequent ruling announced in <u>Howell</u>, this Court had already harmonized this long line of federal precedent, with existing state-court precedent that allows a trial court to *consider* a spouse's entitlement to an undivided veteran's disability pension as one factor relevant to a just and equitable division of property under RCW 26.09.080, and as one factor relevant to an award of maintenance under RCW 26.09.090.

This Court reversed and remanded the order of compensatory maintenance, finding that even though it was labeled as "maintenance" it was "precisely the dollar-for-dollar division and distribution that Mansell and Kraft prohibit." Id. at 324. At the same time, this Court recognized that even in light of Mansell and Kraft, the trial court might still award the wife a dollar amount of maintenance amounting to 45 percent of the disability pay<sup>3</sup>. Quoting Kraft, it stated:

\_

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further supporting its ruling, the <u>Perkins</u> Court cites a number of cases from around the country that hold federal law does not preclude state courts from considering a nondivisible military benefit when making a just and equitable award of property, in

[T]he trial court may, if in its view equity so requires, distribute the [parties'] property in the same manner in which it did initially. What is required is that [it] arrive at its decision as to what is just and equitable under all the circumstances after considering the military disability retirement pay in the manner we here explain.

Id. at 328.

In <u>Howell v. Howell</u>, 581 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 137 S.Ct. 1400, (2017), in anticipation of the husband's eventual retirement, and consistent with the parties' settlement agreement, the divorce decree awarded the wife half of the husband's future military retirement pay. <u>In re Marriage of Howell</u>,

awarding spousal maintenance, or setting child support. See Clauson v. Clauson, 831 P.2d 1257, 1263 (Alaska 1992) ("We ... hold that federal law does not preclude our courts from considering, when equitably allocating property upon divorce, the economic consequences of a decision to waive military retirement pay in order to receive disability pay."); McMahan v. McMahan, 567 So.2d 976, 980 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (notwithstanding Mansell, state courts may consider the impact of veterans' disability payments in determining the "entire equitable distribution scheme ... in an effort to do equity and justice to both [parties]"); Jones v. Jones, 7 Haw. App. 496, 780 P.2d 581, 584 (Haw. Ct. App. 1989) ("Neither Hawaii's rule ... nor federal law precludes the family court, when dividing property and debts in a divorce case, from considering as one of the relevant circumstances ... a party's time-of-divorce right to receive veterans' and military disability pay post-divorce in the same way that the family court considers each party's ability or lack of ability to earn and receive income postdivorce."), cert. denied, 71 Haw. 668, 833 P.2d 900 (1989); Bewley v. Bewley, 116 Idaho 845, 780 P.2d 596, 598 (Idaho Ct.App.1989) ("We do not interpret Hisquierdo to bar unequal awards of community property in all cases where nondivisible federal benefits are involved. But any inequality must be based upon bona fide considerations other than dissatisfaction with the federal scheme."); Strong v. Strong, 300 Mont. 331, 8 P.3d 763, 769 (Mont 2000) (A court "may consider VA disability benefits in the same way it considers each party's ability to earn income post-dissolution as an import factor in achieving an equitable property division[.]"); Weberg v. Weberg, 158 Wis.2d 540, 463 N.W.2d 382, 384 (Ct.App.1990) (trial court may consider veterans' disability payments as a factor in assessing exhusband's ability to pay spousal maintenance); but see Billeck v. Billeck, 777 So.2d 105 (Ala. 2000) ("When a trial court makes an alimony award based upon its consideration of the amount of veteran's disability benefits, the trial court essentially is awarding the wife a portion of those veteran's disability benefits; and in doing so ... violate[s] federal law.")

238 Ariz. 407, 361 P.3d 936, 937 (2015). The husband retired a year later, and half of his retirement pay went to his ex-wife. Howell, 137 S.Ct. at 1404. Thirteen years later he qualified for and elected to receive disability benefits, which required him to waive a portion of the retirement pay he shared with his former spouse, thereby reducing the amount she received each month. Id.

The former spouse asked the Arizona family court to enforce the original decree and restore the value of her share of retirement pay. <u>Id</u>. The family court did so, and the Supreme Court of Arizona affirmed, reasoning that <u>Mansell</u> did not control because the veteran made his waiver after, rather than before, the divorce and because the family court simply ordered the veteran to "reimburse" his former spouse for the reduction of her share of military retirement pay. <u>Id</u>.

The US Supreme Court reversed, reasoning that the reimbursement award at issue was still a "portion of military retirement pay that [the service member] waived in order to obtain disability benefits" Howell. at 1405-06. and that a state court could not "avoid Mansell by describing the family court order as an order requiring [the veteran] to 'reimburse' or to 'indemnify' [a former spouse], rather than an order that divides property." Howell, at 1406. It noted that the temporal difference relied on by the Arizona Supreme Court "highlight[ed] only that [the veteran's] military retirement pay at the time it came to [his former spouse] was subject to later reduction" and that "[t]he state court did not extinguish (and most likely would not have had the legal power to extinguish) that future

contingency." <u>Id</u>. at 1405. The Supreme Court concluded: "Regardless of their form, such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress. All such orders are thus preempted." <u>Id</u>. at 1406.

Even the <u>Howell</u> court itself, recognized the inequity of ignoring indivisible military compensation:

We recognize, as we recognized in Mansell the hardship that congressional pre-emption can sometimes work on divorcing spouses. See 490 U. S., at 594. But we note that a family court, when it first determines the value of a family's assets, remains free to take account of the contingency that some military retirement pay might be waived, or, as the petitioner himself recognizes, take account of reductions in value when it calculates or recalculates the need for spousal support. See Rose v. Rose, 481 U.S. 619, 630-634, 107 S.Ct. 202, 995 L.Ed.2d 599 (1987), and n. 6 (1987); 10 U. S. C. §1408(e)(6) (2017).

<u>Id.</u> at 1406 (emphasis added). The <u>Howell</u> court specifically recognized that a state court can make provisions for maintenance, *or a disproportionate award of property* to reach a just and equitable division of assets when there is an indivisible federal benefit, reasoning Washington Courts had already adopted in <u>Kraft</u> and <u>Perkins</u>.

In A Change in Military Pension Division: The End of Court-

Adjudicated Indemnification - Howell v. Howell<sup>4</sup>, Eliza Grace Lynch analyzes the Howell decision and its impact on family law cases where a military pension is subject to division. Indeed, the focus of this law review article is to point out the uncertainty the Howell decision creates and to offer possible remedies for practitioners and judges alike. Ms. Lynch identifies five possible remedies to the Howell indemnification prohibition, including *express contractual indemnification* which is what the parties did here. Id. at 1082-1086 (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court did not order Rachell indemnify Nathaniel. But, even if it had, it would have been enforcing the *agreed* 2014 Military Qualifying Order that contained an *agreed upon* indemnification clause. Unlike in Howell<sup>5</sup>, the court order here contains an *agreed upon* indemnification clause, requiring Rachell to pay Nathaniel \$593.22 if DFAS did not pay him directly. This clause was negotiated and agreed to by the parties and was not ordered by the trial court, thus is not prohibited by Howell.

Further, Rachell *agreed* in 2008 to the formula for equalization. She *agreed* in 2013 she owed \$146,191.30. She *agreed*, and specifically requested that her military retirement be used as the *vehicle* for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lynch, Eliza Grace, <u>A Change in Military Pension Division: The End of Court Adjudicated Indemnification - Howell v. Howell Mitchell Hamline Law Review: Vol. 44: Iss. 3, Article 8.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The <u>Howell</u> court only addressed indemnification ordered by the trial court. It did not address or prohibit parties from *agreeing* to indemnification in the event disposable military pay is reduced. Thus, the parties can contract around the <u>Howell</u> decision and agree to dollar-for-dollar indemnification.

payment of the \$141,191.30. At no time did the trial court order indemnification in violation of <u>Howell</u>. Rather, the trial court simply enforced the 2008 *agreed* Decree of Dissolution, the *agreed* 2013 order that included Rachell's agreement she owed \$141,191.30 and the 2014 *agreed* Military Order that said she would pay Nathaniel directly if DFAS did not do so.

Nonetheless, Rachell argues that the language of the orders "shows that the court and the parties intended to divide Bond's military retirement." Br. Of Appellant at 15. Her argument completely ignores the procedural history of this case, and Rachell's own declaration that she agrees she owes Nathaniel \$143,191.30.

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